Full text available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1561/070000029

Environmental, Economic and Policy Aspects of Biofuels

Environmental, Economic and Policy Aspects of Biofuels

Deepak Rajagopal

University of California Berkeley USA deepak@berkeley.edu

David Zilberman

University of California Berkeley USA zilber@are.berkeley.edu



the essence of knowledge

Boston – Delft

Foundations and Trends[®] in Microeconomics

Published, sold and distributed by: now Publishers Inc. PO Box 1024 Hanover, MA 02339 USA Tel. +1-781-985-4510 www.nowpublishers.com sales@nowpublishers.com

Outside North America: now Publishers Inc. PO Box 179 2600 AD Delft The Netherlands Tel. +31-6-51115274

The preferred citation for this publication is D. Rajagopal and D. Zilberman, Environmental, Economic and Policy Aspects of Biofuels, Foundations and Trends^{\mathbb{R}} in Microeconomics, vol 4, no 5, pp 353–468, 2008

ISBN: 978-1-60198-174-5 © 2008 D. Rajagopal and D. Zilberman

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without prior written permission of the publishers.

Photocopying. In the USA: This journal is registered at the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc., 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923. Authorization to photocopy items for internal or personal use, or the internal or personal use of specific clients, is granted by now Publishers Inc for users registered with the Copyright Clearance Center (CCC). The 'services' for users can be found on the internet at: www.copyright.com

For those organizations that have been granted a photocopy license, a separate system of payment has been arranged. Authorization does not extend to other kinds of copying, such as that for general distribution, for advertising or promotional purposes, for creating new collective works, or for resale. In the rest of the world: Permission to photocopy must be obtained from the copyright owner. Please apply to now Publishers Inc., PO Box 1024, Hanover, MA 02339, USA; Tel. +1-781-871-0245; www.nowpublishers.com; sales@nowpublishers.com

now Publishers Inc. has an exclusive license to publish this material worldwide. Permission to use this content must be obtained from the copyright license holder. Please apply to now Publishers, PO Box 179, 2600 AD Delft, The Netherlands, www.nowpublishers.com; e-mail: sales@nowpublishers.com

Foundations and Trends[®] in Microeconomics Volume 4 Issue 5, 2008

Editorial Board

Editor-in-Chief: W. Kip Viscusi Vanderbilt University

Editors

Richard Carson, UC San Diego (environmental economics)
Joseph Harrington, Johns Hopkins University (industrial organization)
Tom Kniesner, Syracuse University (labor economics)
Mark V. Pauly, University of Pennsylvania (health economics)
David Wildasin, University of Kentucky (public economics)
Peter Zweifel, University of Zurich (insurance economics)

Editorial Scope

Foundations and Trends[®] in Microeconomics will publish survey and tutorial articles in the following topics:

- Environmental Economics
- Contingent Valuation
- Environmental Health Risks
- Climate Change
- Endangered Species
- Market-based Policy Instruments
- Health Economics
- Moral Hazard
- Medical Care Markets
- Medical Malpractice
- Insurance economics
- Industrial Organization
- Theory of the Firm
- Regulatory Economics
- Market Structure
- Auctions
- Monopolies and Antitrust
- Transaction Cost Economics
- Labor Economics

- Labor Supply
- Labor Demand
- Labor Market Institutions
- Search Theory
- Wage Structure
- Income Distribution
- Race and Gender
- Law and Economics
- Models of Litigation
- Crime
- Torts, Contracts and Property
- Constitutional Law
- Public Economics
- Public Goods
- Environmental Taxation
- Social Insurance
- Public Finance
- International Taxation

Information for Librarians

Foundations and Trends[®] in Microeconomics, 2008, Volume 4, 8 issues. ISSN paper version 1547-9846. ISSN online version 1547-9854. Also available as a combined paper and online subscription.

Foundations and Trends[®] in Microeconomics Vol. 4, No. 5 (2008) 353–468 © 2008 D. Rajagopal and D. Zilberman DOI: 10.1561/0700000029



Environmental, Economic and Policy Aspects of Biofuels

Deepak Rajagopal¹ and David Zilberman²

¹ Energy and Resources Group, University of California, Berkeley, USA, deepak@berkeley.edu

² Department of Agricultural and Resource Economics, University of California, Berkeley, USA, zilber@are.berkeley.edu

Abstract

This review provides a timely summary of the current understanding of the various impacts and contributes positively to the policy debate. We have several key conclusions: (1) Biofuels are diverse and evolving; (2) Greenhouse gas (GHG) benefits vary significantly across various types of biofuels and are dependent on market conditions and policy situation; (3) Increase in income in the developing world would increase the demand for both food and fuel; (4) A diverse set of policies, which has been introduced or proposed, impacts biofuels directly; and (5) Much of the impact assessments of biofuels thus far are *ex-ante* estimates based on either optimization or equilibrium models. The shortterm economic impacts of biofuels will depend on a variety of factors such as the harvest in any given year, the oil price, economic growth, strength of the dollar, and level of inventory. The long-term impacts will depend on factors such as investment in technological change, population and economic growth, climate change, and long-term policies toward energy, agriculture, and the environment. The biofuel policy debate is likely to be an ongoing one in the near future.

Summary

Seldom does a technology or a product, which accounts for just over 1% of the global supply, create as much hope and consternation as have biofuels in recent times. With the world witnessing phenomenal growth in demand for cheap and clean alternatives to oil, biofuel supply does have a positive impact on oil consumers; however, its impact on food consumers and on the environment continues to be controversial. Thus, experts today are in disagreement about biofuel policies. We hope that this review provides a timely summary of the current understanding of the various impacts and contributes positively to the policy debate. We have several key conclusions:

(1) Biofuels are diverse and evolving. The current generation of biofuels includes some that are intensive in land, water, energy, and chemical inputs and significantly affect food markets and the environment. The next generation based on cellulosic biomass and better biofuels has the potential to provide improved net benefits but requires significant technological breakthroughs.

- (2) Greenhouse gas (GHG) benefits vary significantly across various types of biofuels and are dependent on market conditions and policy situation. Current application of life cycle analysis (LCA) has significant limitations for policy analysis. Life cycle indicators need to be represented as functions of prices and policies rather than as scalar numbers. The environmental evaluation of biofuel should also consider alternatives that may be adopted to meet growing demand, for example, gasoline production from tar sands, coal and gas liquefaction, hybrid electric vehicles, energy efficiency and mass transit.
- (3) Increase in income in the developing world would increase the demand for both food and fuel. Surge in fuel prices increases the demand for biofuel, which reduces the supply of food and food inventories. These combined with depreciation of the US dollar, contributed to the recent spike in the price of food. While biofuel improves the welfare of gasoline consumers and food producers, it has a significant negative affect on food consumers, especially the poor. The food security threat may lead to restriction on the expansion of biofuel, and it may require enacting safety net policies. The situation in both food and fuel markets can be improved through policies that expand supply, for example, enhanced agricultural research and less restrictive regulation of agricultural biotechnology. High prices due to biofuels may provide incentives for innovation in and adoption of productivity-enhancing technologies both in agriculture and energy sectors. Policies can affect the speed, timing, and nature of these technological changes.
- (4) A diverse set of policies, which has been introduced or proposed, impacts biofuels directly. These include subsidies, mandates, and regulation of carbon content of fuels. However, current policies do not provide incentives that align private and social welfare. The environmental impact of fuels including biofuels can be controlled by a combination of carbon tax as well as payments for other environmental amenities affected by fuels. These policies can improve welfare by

lowering demand for dirty fuels and enhancing demand for green fuels. However, political economy, information gaps, and transaction costs limit the implementation of first-best policies. Economics of biofuel is also affected by a myriad other policies like agricultural, energy, and R&D; trade and environmental regulations; and various types of taxes and investment policies. Assessing the marginal impact of various government policies on biofuels and designing better policies are a major research challenge.

(5) Much of the impact assessments of biofuels thus far are *ex-ante* estimates based on either optimization or equilibrium models. There is a paucity of *ex-post* econometric analysis of the marginal impact of biofuels and biofuel policies on the economy. Furthermore, the structural relationships between agriculture, the energy sector, and the environment in the context of biofuels have hardly been studied. Other issues for further research include the dynamics of food, fuel and the environment, the industrial organization implications, and its implication for regional development.

Not all biofuels are created equal. The short-term economic impacts of biofuels will depend on a variety of factors such as the harvest in any given year, the oil price, economic growth, strength of the dollar, and level of inventory. Public acceptance of biofuels should be expected to ebb and flow depending on what it perceives as these short-term impacts. The long-term impacts will depend on factors such as investment in technological change, population and economic growth, climate change, and long-term policies toward energy, agriculture, and the environment. The biofuel policy debate is likely to be an ongoing one in the near future.

List of Acronyms

ABE — acetone butanol ethanol
BTU — British thermal unit
CIWMB — California Integrated Waste Management Board
CGE — computable general equilibrium

CGF — corn gluten feed

CGM — corn gluten meal

CRP — Conservation Reserve Program

DDG — distiller's dried grain

DDGS — distiller's dried grain with solubles

EJ — exajoule

FFV — flexible fuel vehicles

FAO — Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

GHG — greenhouse gas

 $\operatorname{GTAP}-\operatorname{Global}$ Trade Analysis Project

 $\mathrm{HC}-\mathrm{hydrocarbon}$

IFRPI — International Food Policy Research Institute

LCA — life cycle assessment or life cycle analysis

MJ — megajoules

MTOE — million tonnes of oil equivalent

MSW -municipal solid waste

NER — net energy ratio

 $\rm NEV-net$ energy value

 $\operatorname{OECD}-\operatorname{Organization}$ for Economic Cooperation and Development

 $\rm R\&D-research$ and development

Twh — terawatt-hour

Contents

1]	Biofuels - Sources, Production, and Uses	1
1.1	Motivation Behind the Survey	1
1.2	Drivers for Biofuels	2
1.3	Global Energy Situation and the Share of Bioenergy	6
1.4	Historical Perspective on Biofuels	10
1.5	Biofuel Sources and Conversion Technologies	11
1.6	Emerging Technologies	25
1.7	Estimates of Future Potentials for Bioenergy	26
1.8	Diverse Solutions for a Diverse World	28
2	Environmental Footprint of Biofuels	33
2.1	Introduction	33
2.2	LCA models	34
2.3	Case Studies	37
2.4	Summary of Current Literature	44
2.5	Caveats of LCA	46
2.6	Section Summary	48
3	Economic Studies of the Impact of Biofuels	51
3.1	Introduction	51
3.2	Economic Models of Biofuels	52
3.3	Summary of Literature and Hypotheses	
	for Further Research	69
3.4	Section Summary	73

4 Policies and Policy Implications	75
4.1 Introduction	75
4.2 The Rationale for Intervention	76
4.3 Policy Tools	77
4.4 Theoretical and Empirical Literature on Policy Impacts	78
4.5 The Biofuel Policy Spectrum	81
4.6 Summary of Policies and Some Implications	87
4.7 Section Summary	92
5 Conclusion	95
Acknowledgments	99
A Definition of Terms	101
References	103



1.1 Motivation Behind the Survey

The last few years have witnessed both a dramatic increase in the demand for cheaper alternatives to oil (EIA, 2008). Similar boom in alternative energy has occurred in the past, but it was temporary. The indication this time is that the demand for alternatives to oil will be sustained for longer periods. One reason for this is that supply of conventional oil is not expected to keep up with future demand (Campbell and Laherrere, 1998). Several large energy-consuming regions are setting ambitious long-term targets for biofuels and for reduction in carbon emission (AB32; Fulton et al., 2004; EPACT, 2005; Kojima and Johnson, 2005).

However, expansion of biofuels raises a variety of concerns, such as the increase in food prices and its impact on the poor, the expansion of agricultural land and its impact on natural habitats, and increase in use of agrichemicals. Although there is much disagreement about the role of biofuels in the recent food inflation, the crisis has thrown caution into the winds (Sexton and Zilberman, 2008). Disagreement among scientists apart, public and political opinion is also one of skepticism, but

not all biofuels are created equal. The economic and the environmental impact of biofuels will be heterogeneous varying with space and time.

Given this context, the time is ripe for a survey that summarizes what is known about biofuels today and what is being predicted for the future. Since this is a review of the literature, it has not been our aim to present new analysis. There are five sections in this review. Section 1 describes the drivers for biofuels, the various types of biofuels, and some of the emerging technologies. It also provides a historical perspective on biofuels. Section 2 surveys the environmental literature on biofuels. Section 3 is a review of the studies of economic impacts of biofuels. Section 4 is a review of the various policies that are influencing the evolution of biofuels and their economic implications. Section 5 concludes by summarizing the findings and identifying areas for future work.

1.2 Drivers for Biofuels

Increasing consensus about the end of cheap oil, the risks to supply due to political instability in major oil-producing regions, and the consequences of carbon emissions from fossil fuels have caused a spurt in the search for alternative sources of oil (Hazell and Pachauri, 2006; Runge and Senauer, 2007). Nowhere is the need for alternative to oil felt more than in the transportation sector. Transportation consumes 30% of the global energy, 99% of which is supplied by petroleum (EIA, 2007). World use of liquids and other petroleum is projected to grow from 83.6 million barrels oil equivalent per day in 2005 to 95.7 million barrels per day in 2015 and 112.5 million barrels per day by the year 2030 (EIA, 2008). Transportation is expected to account for about 74%of the total projected increase in global oil use between 2005 and 2030 (EIA, 2008). Transportation also accounts for 21% of global annual greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (Watson et al., 1996). While a range of renewable technologies like wind and solar photovoltaics (PV) and carbon-free technologies like nuclear are poised to challenge coal and natural gas in the electricity sector, there seemed no alternative existed that could compete widely with oil in terms of cost and convenience for transportation. But today, plant-based fuels like ethanol and biodiesel seem to be emerging as a serious alternative fuel ahead of technologies

Full text available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1561/070000029

1.2 Drivers for Biofuels 3

like fuel cell vehicles, electric/hybrid vehicles, and natural gas vehicles. There are several reasons for the excitement surrounding biofuels.

- 1. Biofuels can improve energy security: The energy security argument has several flavors. One is a purely economic view that in a globalized world anything that diversifies the physical sources of energy increases energy security. The second view is a more nationalistic one, which emphasizes domestic control over supply. A third view relates to reducing dependence on trade for energy with unstable or hostile regions. Seen from any of these angles biofuels have a role to play in improving energy security.
- 2. Biofuels can reduce GHG emissions: Some consider biofuels a major solution to reducing GHG emissions. It is true that direct (i.e., ignoring land-use change) GHG emissions from biofuels is in several cases (sugarcane, cellulose, wastes, etc.) clearly lower compared to fossil fuels. However, taken together with indirect emissions due to induced agriculture expansion (about which experts are in disagreement) the net GHG effect is uncertain (Sexton and Zilberman, 2008). There is also less clarity about non-GHG environmental impacts.
- 3. Biofuels are replenishable: Biofuels are an inexhaustible resource since the stock can be replenished through agriculture. Technologies like fuel cells and electric vehicles that depend on hydrogen and the electric grid, respectively, are due to economic considerations, ultimately dependent on natural gas and coal, respectively.
- 4. Biofuels can increase farm income: Ignoring the recent surge in prices of agricultural commodities for the moment, decline in farm income has been a problem the world over (Gardner, 2003). With biofuels, most countries will be able to grow one or more types of crops in which they possess a comparative advantage and use them to meet either domestic or foreign demand or both. This increased demand for agriculture is expected to increase farm income. In countries

with oversupply, diverting some of it to biofuels might offer a double whammy, raise income for farmers, and reduce the demand for subsidies (Hazell and Pachauri, 2006). That said, one could argue that under current circumstances higher food prices would have resulted even in the absence of biofuels due to the rapid economic growth and slow productivity growth.

- 5. Biofuels can create new jobs: Biofuels are more labor intensive than other energy technologies on a per-unit-of-energydelivered basis (Kammen et al., 2004). The production of the feedstock and the conversion require greater quantities of labor compared to that required for extraction and processing of fossil fuels or other industrially based technologies like hydrogen and electric vehicles. A majority of these job additions is expected to take place in the rural sector which can also spur rural development (Kammen, 2006).
- 6. Biofuels have physical and chemical properties similar to oil: Liquid fuels are expected to remain both the world's dominant energy source and also the most important fuels for transportation (EIA, 2008). Given this physical similarity and also several chemical similarities, biofuels provide enormous advantages to bridge the rising gap between supply and demand for oil. As a result, adapting to biofuel-based infrastructure (at least at low levels of blending like 10% or 20%) can be achieved more cost effectively than adapting to hydrogen, battery, or natural gas-based automobiles (Fulton et al., 2004; de la Torre Ugarte, 2006).
- 7. Biofuels are simple and familiar: Finally, biofuels have an aura of being simple and familiar to consumers, producers, and policymakers alike. Ethanol has been in use as an additive or as a blend with gasoline in several countries for over two decades while its production for alcohol consumption has been known for centuries. Even 100 years ago, Henry Ford and Rudolph Diesel who are considered the grandfathers of the automobile revolution of the 20th century are said to

1.2 Drivers for Biofuels 5

have prophesized a future for transportation based on fuels derived from plant-based sources. $^{\rm 1}$

However, if agriculture is to be relied on to fuel a growing population, one that is richer and drives more, then a serious consideration of the consequences of widespread biofuel adoption is warranted, and the technology is not without costs (Sexton and Zilberman, 2008). Biofuels may mean filling the fuel tank at the cost of emptying the stomach of the poor (Msangi et al., 2006; Runge and Senauer, 2007; Rajagopal, 2008). Such criticism seems to bear more merit given the global food inflation being experienced in the first half of 2008 (Abbott et al., 2008). Biofuels are also feared for the impact they will have on the natural environment (Giampietro et al., 1997; Fearnside, 2002; Runge and Senauer, 2007; van Damm et al., 2007). Basically, biofuel technology is land intensive. Biofuel demand will put pressure on existing use of land including food production and natural habitats. It will also increase the demand for agricultural inputs (fertilizers, pesticides, etc.), which have negative environmental externalities. By increasing energy supply, biofuels can also undermine efforts aimed at managing demand through energy efficiency and energy conservation. We defer a more detailed discussion on the environmental and economic implications on biofuels to later sections. The emphasis in this section is on the sources, technologies, and uses of bioenergy systems.

Although the term biofuels is being appropriated to refer just to liquid fuels like ethanol and biodiesel, it should ideally imply fuels from plant-based sources, which can be produced, processed, and consumed in diverse forms. A matrix of some common biofuel pathways is shown in Section 1.5. Biofuels can also be crudely divided into "traditional" and "modern." The term traditional is used to refer to combustion of wood, animal waste, and crop residues for household cooking and heating, largely by the poor in developing countries, whereas the term modern is used to refer to biomass use for electricity and transportation using more sophisticated conversion technologies like gasification and fermentation. Traditional biomass accounts for 80% of the global

 $^{^{1}\,}http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/science/nature/6294133.stm.$

renewable energy use (details in Section 2), while ethanol and biodiesel comprise less than 1% of the global renewable energy use (the remaining is accounted for by wind, solar, hydro, geothermal, and tidal energy). In any case the focus of this survey is largely on liquid biofuels, the reason being that it is one of the fastest-growing sources of alternative energy today. The impacts of the huge investments taking place in developing modern biofuels are not well understood, and hence more controversial, whereas several prominent works on traditional biomass already exist (Smith, 1987; Ravindranath and Hall, 1995; Barnes and Floor, 1996; Smith and Mehta, 2003; Bailis et al., 2005).

The rest of the section is organized as follows. Sub-section 1.3 provides some basic statistics on global energy use and the share of biofuels. Sub-section 1.4 provides a historical perspective on biofuel use. Sub-section 1.5 describes the various biofuel technologies in use today. Sub-section 1.6 summarizes the findings of several studies that estimate the future potential of biofuels. Sub-section 1.7 describes cutting-edge research in biofuel technologies. Sub-section 1.8 concludes the section.

1.3 Global Energy Situation and the Share of Bioenergy

The global energy production in 2004 was about 440 quadrillion Btu^2 (11000 mtoe)³ (EIA, 2007) (Figure 1.1). In terms of end-use consumption, transportation and electricity accounted for 21% and 30%, respectively (Watson et al., 1996). In terms of sources of energy, about 80% of the supply was comprised of crude oil, coal, and natural gas while the contribution of renewable energy sources was about 13% (Figure 1.2). In terms of the sources of renewable energy, about 80% of the supply was comprised of combustible renewables like wood, dung, charcoal, and agricultural wastes, while hydro, wind, solar, tidal, and geothermal contributed the rest (Figure 1.2). Combustible renewables and waste are consumed mainly in non-OECD (Organization for Economic and Development) countries while hydro and other modern renewables are consumed largely in OECD countries (Figure 1.3). Overall Africa, non-OECD Asia, and China combined for 67% of the global renewable

²Btu — British thermal unit.

³ Mtoe — million tonnes of oil equivalent.

1.3 Global Energy Situation and the Share of Bioenergy 7



2004 Global Primary Energy by Fuel Source in quadrillion Btu (Total = 440 quadrillion Btu)

Fig. 1.1 Fuel shares in global primary energy supply (EIA, 2007).



Fig. 1.2 Share of renewables in global energy supply (IEA, 2006).

energy (Figure 1.4). We can also infer that renewable energy in developing countries is comprised almost entirely of traditional biomass, where as in the developed countries it is comprised largely of modern renewables like solar, wind, and hydro (Figures 1.3 and 1.4). From an end-use energy perspective, 58% of the renewable energy is consumed by the residential, commercial, and public sector (Figure 1.5). We can also safely assume that a majority of the combustible renewables and waste is consumed for cooking and heating purposes especially in developing countries.



8 Biofuels — Sources, Production, and Uses

Fig. 1.3 Regional distribution for each renewable source (IEA, 2006).

		Of	Share of	Share of t	he main fuel cat total renewable	egories in s
	TPES*	Renew- ables	Renewables in TPES	Hydro	Geothermal, Solar, Wind, etc.	Combustible Renewables and Waste
	Mtoe	Mtoe	%	%	%	%
Africa	586	287	49.0	2.6	0.4	97.1
Latin America	486	140	28.9	36.1	1.4	62.4
Asia**	1,289	411	31.8	4.0	3.6	92.4
China***	1,627	251	15.4	12.1	0	87.9
Non-OECD Europe	104	11	10.6	43.2	2.5	54.3
Former USSR	979	30	3.0	71.4	1.2	27.3
Middle East	480	3	0.7	43.4	24.4	32.2
OECD	5,508	315	5.7	34.6	12.0	53.4
World	11,059	1,404	13.1	16.7	4.0	79.4

* Total primary energy supply calculated using the physical energy content methodology.

** Asia excludes China.

*** China includes People's Republic of China and Hong Kong, China.

Fig. 1.4 Share of various sources of renewable in each region (IEA, 2006).



1.3 Global Energy Situation and the Share of Bioenergy 9

Fig. 1.5 End-use sectors that consume renewable energy (IEA, 2006). Source: IEA Energy Statics



Fig. 1.6 Global production of ethanol and biodiesel (Martinot, 2005).

In the year 2006 liquid biofuels accounted for just over 1% of global renewable energy (16 mtoe out of 1430 mtoe) and just less than 1% of global crude oil supply of 4800 billion liters (IEA, 2006). That said, most of the big energy-consuming nations are considering or have already adopted policies that could result in much higher biofuels use by the next decade (Kojima and Johnson, 2005). Ethanol and biodiesel are the two main types of liquid biofuels today, and these are almost entirely used in the transportation sector. However, production of ethanol at 36 billion liters per year far exceeds the production of biodiesel, which is about 4 billion liters per year globally (Figure 1.6). Based on the origin of supply, today's biofuels can be crudely classified into three main categories, namely, Brazilian ethanol from sugarcane,

American ethanol from corn, and German biodiesel from rapeseed. In 2005, Brazil and the United States combined for about 90% of ethanol production, while Germany accounted for over 50% of global biodiesel production (Figure 1.3; Martinot, 2005). In Brazil ethanol accounts for about 30% of gasoline demand, while its share is less than 2% of transport fuel in the United States (Fulton et al., 2004).

1.4 Historical Perspective on Biofuels

Prior to the industrial revolution, biomass satisfied almost all of the human energy needs across the globe. The burning of wood and charcoal supplied energy for heating and cooking in homes, while draft animals supplied the energy for tilling of land and for transport of people in horse or ox-drawn carriages. The replacement of animal power with machine power is claimed to have freed up 80 million acres of US land land that had been used to grow grass and other feed for the millions of animals used by humans.⁴ With the advent of coal and petroleum in the middle and late 19th century, respectively, the developed world rapidly transitioned away from the use of biomass for almost all end uses like household, commercial, industrial, and transportation applications. Until now, economic growth has generally resulted in a decline in the share of biomass energy and an increase in the use of modern fuels. Statistics from various countries also show that per capita income and share of modern fuels are positively correlated (Figure 1.7; Martinot, 2005). When a country's per capita income is less than \$300 (in US dollars), typically 90% or more of the population uses firewood and dung for cooking (Barnes and Floor, 1996). Once incomes have exceeded \$1000 per capita, most people switch to modern fuels, and substitution is nearly complete. An overview of the main forms of energy used for various end uses like cooking, lighting, running appliances, and sometimes space heating in rural areas of developing countries is shown in Table 1.1. It indicates that the general pattern is to climb the ladder from traditional to modern fuels gradually. For cooking, wood dung and agricultural residues are the most common while some households use

⁴ http://bioenergy.ornl.gov/papers/misc/switgrs.html.





Fig. 1.7 Correlation between GDP and use of biomass energy for various countries (Barnes, 1996).

kerosene or charcoal. Biogas is also used in some cases. For lighting, the poor depend on candles or kerosene. For agriculture and rural industry, the general pattern is to move from human and animal power to mechanical power. For commercial and industrial heating, the trend is to move to more efficient use of biomass, as well as to modern fuels.

Modern fuel sources are still out of reach for poor people in those countries. The situation is acute with regard to access to clean cooking fuels and electricity. According to Bailis et al. (2005), in Africa about 94% of the rural population depends on wood, and 73% of the urban population depends on wood and charcoal as the primary source of energy. In India, less than 40% of rural households have connection to the electric grid and less than 10% of the rural households have access to clean burning fuels like liquefied petroleum gas or liquefied natural gas (Rajagopal, 2008). In China, despite rapid economic growth, 80% of households continue to rely on biomass or coal as their primary cooking and heating fuels (Smith and Mehta, 2003). Therefore, providing cleaner fuels for cooking and electricity, which can be produced from biomass, should also be an important area of focus for policy in such countries, along with producing modern biofuels for transportation.

Table 1.1 Sources of rural energy for various end-uses at different household incomes.

		Income stage	
End use	Low	Medium	High
Household			
Cooking	Wood, residues, and dung	Wood, residues, dung, kerosene, and biogas	Wood, kerosene, biogas, LPG, and coal
Lighting	Candles and kerosene (sometimes none)	Candles, kerosene, and gasoline	Kerosene, electricity, and gasoline
Space heating	Wood, residues, and dung (often none)	Wood, residues, and dung	Wood, residues, dung, and coal
Other appliances	None	Electricity and storage cells	Electricity and storage cells
Agriculture			
Tilling	Hand	Animal	Animal, gasoline, and diesel (tractors and small power tillers)
Irrigation	Hand	Animal	Diesel and electricity
Postharvest processing	Hand	Animal	Diesel and electricity
Industry			
Milling and mechanical	Hand	Hand and animal	Hand, animal, diesel, and electricity
Process heat	Wood and residues	Coal, charcoal, wood, and residues	Coal, charcoal, kerosene, wood, and residues

Source: Barnes and Floor (1996).

1.5 Biofuel Sources and Conversion Technologies

Most bioenergy systems can be explained using the schematic shown in Figure 1.8. Like any production system, inputs like fuel, capital, and labor are combined to produce the energy using a chemical conversion process. In the process pollution and other useful coproducts are also produced. Table 1.2 shows the key differences between traditional and modern bioenergy systems in terms of these inputs, conversion technology, and the outputs. Traditional forms of biomass use are characterized by low capital, low conversion efficiency, poor utilization of fuel, and poor emission controls whereas modern forms of biomass use



1.5 Biofuel Sources and Conversion Technologies 13

Fig. 1.8 Schematic of a bioenergy production system.

Table 1.2	Comparison	of	characteristics	of	traditional	and	modern	biofuels.
-----------	------------	----	-----------------	----	-------------	-----	--------	-----------

Characteristic		
of technology	Traditional	Modern
Fuel	Mostly gathered or collected and in some cases purchased	Commercially procured
Capital	Low capital cost	High capital cost
Labor	High labor intensity at household level in collection of fuel	Low labor intensity at household level but overall high labor intensity compared to other energy sources
Conversion process	Low efficiency and poor utilization of biomass	Higher efficiency and higher utilization of biomass
Energy uses	Energy for cooking and heating in poor households in developing countries	Commercial heating, electricity and transportation
Emission controls	Poor emission controls	Controlled emissions
Co-product	No co-products	Commercially useful co-products

are characterized by higher capital, higher conversion efficiency, better utilization of fuel, and better emission controls. Let us consider these two types of biomass in more detail.

1.5.1 Traditional Biomass

Traditional biomass implies the use of sources like wood, crop residues, animal dung, and charcoal for cooking and heating at the household level. This is often done using three-stone stoves or in some cases using improved cook stoves or biogas stoves. Animal power for transportation or for farm use like tilling can also be considered a traditional form of use. Traditional use of biomass has the following characteristics. First,

traditional biomass is usually gathered or collected (often by women and children) from common lands or privately owned lands and are, therefore, largely an informal activity. The only cost to users is the opportunity cost of time invested in collecting fuelwood. The informal nature of the market has been a reason for little private investment in research and development (R&D). Second, combustion of biomass is characterized by low efficiency due to poor design of stoves. As a result, biomass is overused and is associated with deforestation, fodder scarcity, and depletion of soil quality (due to nonavailability of animal manure and other residues for soil). Third, uncontrolled and open burning of biomass in traditional stoves in poorly ventilated chambers has serious health implications for women and children (Smith, 1987; Bailis et al., 2005). However, such attributes are not inherent to bioenergy and are the consequence of socioeconomic and political factors, which can be addressed with the aid of appropriate policies. For example, dissemination of improved cook stoves and biogas systems, better ventilation in the kitchen area, sustainable harvesting of wood, etc., can make traditional biomass more sustainable (Kammen, 2006). Investments in improving the efficiency and reducing emissions from traditional biomass use will have impacts as wide ranging as improving gender equity and halting environmental degradation given its high use of child and female labor and the high fuel use per unit of delivered energy.

1.5.2 Modern Biofuels

Although traditional biomass still comprises the major share of biobased energy, its share is declining relative to modern biomass. Liquid biofuels for transportation like ethanol and biodiesel are one of the fastest-growing sources of alternative energy in the world today and are poised to reverse the historical trend of decline in the share of biomass in the global primary energy supply. Like traditional biomass, modern biofuel systems also encompass a variety of feedstock, conversion technologies, and end uses as shown in Table 1.3. They are used mostly for generation of electricity or transportation as opposed to cooking and heating. The technological and commercial maturity and scalability of

			Crops in	Crops in				
Feedstock	Type of		temperate	$\operatorname{tropical}$	Conversion	Technology	Commercial	
type	biofuel	Major end-use	climes	climes	technology	maturity	maturity	
Sugar and	Ethanol	Transportation	Corn,	Sugarcane,	Biochemical	High	High	
starch			sugarbeet,	$\operatorname{sorghum}$	conversion			
			wheat	cassava	(fermentation)			
Oil seeds	Biodiesel	Transportation	Soy, rapeseed	Palm	Transesterification	High	High	
				$Jatropha^*$,				
				Castor				
$Wood^{**}$	Fuelwood,	Cooking,	Willow,	Eucalyptus,	Direct combustion,	High	Low	
	Syn-gas	heating,	poplar	acacia,	thermochemical			
		electricity		prosopis	conversion			
Municipal	Syn-gas or	Heating,	na***	na	Direct combustion,	High	Low	
and agri-	Biogas	electricity			thermochemical,			
cultural					anaerobic digestion			
$waste^{**}$								
Perennial	Ethanol	Transportation	Switchgrass,		Biochemical	Low	Nil	
grasses			Miscanthus		(enzymatic)			
(cellulose)					chemical (acid			
					hydrolysis)			
					conversion			
*Crop names	in italics refer	to those which are	not commercial y	et.				
**Wood, mun	iicipal wastes a	nd agricultural resid	dues can also be d	converted to et]	hanol like perennial grasse	es using cellul	osic technologie	Ś
*** Na — not	applicable.							

Table 1.3 Biofuel technology matrix.

Full text available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1561/070000029

the various biofuel pathways are also diverse. Sugar and starch-based crops and the associated conversion technologies are the most mature for ethanol production today, while oilseed crops are the most mature sources of biodiesel. However, since they have low yield per hectare and are also used for food, they are not well suited for large-scale expansion. Cellulose-based fuels are considered the most promising for the future but are not commercially and technically mature today. The production of electricity from biomass, using wood and agricultural and municipal wastes while technologically mature, is not commercially widespread. The reasons for low commercial maturity are several including high cost, undercompensation for environmental benefits, etc. (Roos et al., 1999). Some of the technological aspects are described in more detail in the following sections.

A variety of biofuels are being produced today depending on the type of biomass source, the conversion technology, and end-use technology.

- Ethanol and biodiesel are the most widely used biofuels for transportation today. The former is blended with gasoline and the latter with diesel. Another prominent distinction is that ethanol is derived from starch- and sugar-based sources like cereals and sugarcane while biodiesel is produced from oil seeds. Biologically derived butanol and Fischer–Tropsch fuels could be two more types of future biofuels.
- Synthesis gas produced by gasification of wood is another type of biofuel used mainly for electricity generation.
- Fuelwood and biogas produced by anaerobic digestion of plant and animal wastes are used for cooking and heating at the household level.

Each of these biofuels can be produced from a variety of feedstocks using a variety of conversion technologies. A few major feedstocks and processes in commercial use today are described below.

1.5.2.1 Feedstock

The term feedstock refers to the raw material used in the conversion process, which can be a crop, crop residue, or agricultural and municipal 1.5 Biofuel Sources and Conversion Technologies 17

waste. The main types of feedstock listed in Table 1.3 are described in detail below

- 1. Sugar and starch-based crops: Crops rich in sugar and starch like sugarcane and corn (maize), respectively, supply almost all the ethanol that is produced today. Other major crops being used include wheat, sorghum, sugar beet, and cassava. Technologies for conversion of sugar and starch are also the most technologically and commercially mature today. The major drawback of such crops is that they are important food crops, and their use for fuel can have adverse impacts on food supply. Another drawback is these crops are intensive in the use of one or more among inputs like land, water, fertilizer, and pesticides, which have other environmental implications (Giampietro et al., 1997; Ulgiati, 2001; Pimentel and Patzek, 2005: Farrell et al., 2006). Some characteristics like yield and water intensity of major sugar and starch crops are listed in Table 1.4. In the future cellulosic sources are expected to displace such crops as the major source of ethanol.
- 2. Oilseed crops: In contrast to ethanol, biodiesel is produced from oilseed crops like soybean, rapeseed, and oil palm (Sheehan et al., 2000; Demirbas, 2001). But like sugar and starch crops, oilseed crops are also characterized by low yield and high use of inputs. Some characteristics, e.g., yield and water intensity of major oilseed crops, are listed in Table 1.5. In the future nonedible crops like Jatropha curcas and Pongamia pinnata, which are considered to be low-input and suited to marginal lands, may become major sources of biodiesel, especially in the dry and semi-arid regions of Asia and Africa. But the economic viability of crops these crops under conditions of low inputs and poor land quality are considered highly uncertain (Prayas, 2007).
- 3. Wood: Wood is predominantly used for cooking and heating at the household level and to a lesser extent for producing electricity at a small scale. When used directly at the household level, it is often collected from forests or other

	Global	Water	Water		Ethanol	Gasoline	Ethanol	
	acreage	required	required	Crop yield	conversion	equivalent	yield per	Growing
Ethanol	(million	mm/yr	mm/yr	(tonnes per	efficiency	ethanol yield	unit of water	season
feedstock	$hectares)^*$	$(low)^{**}$	$(high)^{**}$	$hectare)^*$	$(liter/ton)^{***}$	(liter/hec)	(liter/mm)	(months)
Wheat	215	450	650	2.8	340	600	1.09	4–5 months
Maize	145	500	800	4.9	400	450	0.69	4-5 months
Sorghum	45	450	650	1.3	390	450	0.82	4-5 months
Sugarcane	20	1500	1500	20	20	3300	1.65	$10{-}12 month$
Sugarbeet	5.4	550	750	100	110	7370	11.34	5-6 months
Sweet sorghum	insig.	450	650	40	20	1900	3.45	4-5 months
${ m Bagasse}^*$	na	na	na	18.9	280	3550	na	na
* Estimates that	are typically	r cited, na —	data not ava	ilable or not ap	plicable, insig. –	– not. significar	nt; Data from F/	AO online statistical
database.								

ethanol.
for
sources
potential
of
intensity
water
and
Land
1.4
Table

Data from FAO crop management database http://www.fao.org/ag/AGL/AGLW/watermanagement/default.stm. *Data from various sources. Source: Rajagopal (2008).

18 Biofuels — Sources, Production, and Uses

					Average				
	Oil	Water	Water		crop	Average	Oil yield		
	content	required	required		yield kg	oil yield	per unit		Useful
Oil seed	as $\%$ of	mm/yr	mm/yr	Trees per	per	in kg per	of water	Time to full	life
crops	seed wt	(low)	(high)	hectare	hectare	hectare	$(\rm kg/mm)$	maturity	(years)
Coconut	20	600	1200	100	na	4500	5.00	5 to 10 years	50
Oil palm	80	1800	2500	250	na	150	2.33	10 to 12 years	25
Groundnut	50	400	500	na	1015	508	1.13	100 to 120 days	na
$\operatorname{Rapeseed}$	40	350	450	na	830	332	0.83	120 to 150 days	na
Castor	45	500	650	na	1100	495	0.86	150 to 280 days	na
Sunflower	40	600	750	na	540	216	0.32	100 to 120 days	na
$\operatorname{Soybean}$	18	450	200	na	1105	199	0.35	100 to 150 days	na
${ m Jatropha}^*$	30	150	300	2000	2000	009	2.67	3 to 4 years	20
$\operatorname{Pongamia}^*$	30	150	300	1000	5000	1500	6.67	6 to 8 years	25
*Crops not cc	mmercially a	grown, calcul	ations are ba	used on estima	ates that are	typically cite	d.		
Source: Raja£	gopal (2008).								

crops.
oilseed
major
$_{\mathrm{of}}$
intensity
water
and
Land
1.5
Table

1.5 Biofuel Sources and Conversion Technologies 19

lands. Commercial plantations of woody trees like poplar and willow in temperate zones and eucalyptus and acacia exist today albeit on a small scale. The predominant use of commercial plantations today is for the supply of wood to paper and pulp industries (Ravindranath and Hall, 1995). Future cellulosic technologies, which permit the conversion of wood to ethanol, may compete with current uses of wood.

- 4. Wastes and residues: According to Kim and Dale (2004), there are about 73.9 million tonnes of dry wasted crops and about 1.5 billion tonnes of dry ligno-cellulosic biomass from seven crops, namely, maize, oats, barley, rice, sorghum, wheat, and sugarcane (Kim and Dale, 2004). These could potentially yield about 490 billion liters of ethanol or about 30% of global gasoline use today. Furthermore, lignin-rich fermentation residue, which is the coproduct of ethanol made from crop residues and sugarcane bagasse, can potentially generate both 458 TWh⁵ of electricity (about 3.6% of world electricity production) and 2.6 EJ^6 of steam. The utilization of this feedstock is contingent upon the successful commercialization of cellulosic technologies. The economics of collection and processing of residues is also not clear. The low specific energy density of residues can imply high transportation costs that might render a large fraction of this resource uneconomical.
- 5. Dedicated cellulosic crops: Cellulose is the substance that makes up the cell walls of plant matter along with hemicellulose and lignin. It is the primary structural component of green plants comprising more than 50% of the phytomatter incorporated annually in plants. It is much more abundant than starch, sugar, and oil, which are concentrated only in seeds and fruits. Perennial grasses like switchgrass and Miscanthus are two crops considered having enormous potential for biofuel production in the next decade. Perennial crops

 $^{{}^{5}}$ TWh — terawatt hour (= 10^{9} kilowatt hour).

 $^{^{6}}$ EJ — exajoule (= 10^{12} kilojoules).

1.5 Biofuel Sources and Conversion Technologies 21

also confer other advantages like lower rates of soil erosion and higher soil carbon sequestration. However, technologies for conversion of cellulose to biofuels are just emerging and not yet technically or commercially mature (described later). Cellulose conversion technologies will allow the utilization of nongrain parts of crops like corn stover, rice husk, sorghum stalk, bagasse from sugarcane, and the woody parts (Lynd, 1996; Wyman, 1999).

Theoretical estimates for global ethanol production from six potential crops, namely, sugarcane, corn (maize), wheat, sorghum, sugar beet, and cassava, based on global average yields are shown in Table 1.6. These six crops account for about 43% of the 1.4 billion hectare global acreage under crops (FAO, 2007). Utilization of the entire supply of these six crops for bioenergy would account for about 85% of global gasoline consumption in 2003, which was taken to be about 1.100 billion liters. Other calculations based on cropping patterns, yields, and conversion technologies suggest that, the United States, Canada, and European Union (EU)- 15^7 would require between 30% and 70% of their respective current crop area if they are to replace even 10% of their transport fuel consumption with biofuels. The apparent discrepancy between the two calculations is because Europe and North America comprise a smaller portion of the production of crops relative to the rest of the world but a much larger portion of the demand for gasoline. Brazil on the other hand, would require only 3% of its current cropland to meet 10% of its gasoline demand (OECD, 2006). Obviously, it is hard to say anything about the feasibility of achieving this transition without consideration of the economic and environmental impacts.

1.5.2.2 Conversion Technologies

A number of conversion technologies are available today depending on the types of feedstock, fuel, and end use that are desired (Faaij, 2006;

⁷ Fifteen countries in the European Union before the expansion on May 1, 2004: Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, and United Kingdom.

			Global				Gasoline	Supply as
	Global	Average	produc-	Conversion	Land	Max.	equiva-	% of 2003
	acreage	yield	tion	efficiency	intensity	ethanol	lent	global
	(million	(tons)	(million	(liters)	(liters)	(billion	(billion	gasoline
Crop	$hectares)^*$	$hectare)^*$	tonnes)	$tonne)^{**}$	hectare)	liters)	liters)	use***
Wheat	215	2.8	602	340	952	205	137	12
Rice	150	4.2	630	430	1806	271	182	16
Corn	145	4.9	711	402	1968	285	191	17
Sorghum	45	1.3	59	60	78	4	2	0
Sugarcane	20	65	1300	20	4550	91	61	9
Cassava	19	12	219	180	2070	39	26	2
Sugarbeet	5.4	46	248	110	5060	27	18	2
Wasted crops	ļ		74	660	l	49	33	3
Crop residues			1500	290		442	296	27
Total	599					1413	947	86
*Data from FAC) online statistic	cal database.						

Data from various sources. *Global gasoline use in 2003 = 1,100 billion liters (Kim and Dale, 2004).

22 Biofuels — Sources, Production, and Uses

Table 1.6 Potential for ethanol production from major crops.

Full text available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1561/070000029

1.5 Biofuel Sources and Conversion Technologies 23

Farrell and Gopal, 2008). We will provide a brief review of each of these. Technologies that can be considered to be in the experimental stage are discussed in Section 1.6.

- Direct combustion: This is the most common and oldest form of conversion that involves burning organic matter in an oxygen-rich environment mainly for the production of heat. The most common use of this heat is in the production of steam for industrial use or for electricity generation. In some cases, the goal of burning might simply be reduction in the volume of waste without energy recovery as is the case with disposal of agricultural or medical waste. Examples of applications of direct combustion include burning of biomass like wood, dung, and agricultural wastes in homes for cooking and heating, co-firing of biomass with coal in electricity production, the burning of wood for processed heat in chemical industries, etc. Typical flame temperatures for combustion and incineration range between 1,500° F and 3,000° F (Demirbas, 2001).
- 2. Thermo-chemical conversion: In contrast to direct combustion, thermo-chemical conversion utilizes heat and pressure in an oxygen-deficient environment to produce "synthesis gas." Syn-gas is composed mainly of carbon monoxide and hydrogen and can either be combusted to produce heat or converted to other fuels like ethanol and hydrogen. Thermochemical conversion is cleaner compared to other conversion pathways. Thermo-chemical conversion pathways include processes such as gasification, pyrolysis, plasma arc, and catalytic cracking. A detailed description of these technologies can be found in a report on conversion technologies by the California Integrated Waste Management Board (CIWMB). While gasification processes vary considerably, typical gasifiers operate from 1,300° F and higher and from atmospheric pressure up to five atmospheres or higher (CIWMB, 2005).

- 3. Biochemical conversion: Unlike thermal and thermochemical processes, biochemical conversion processes occur at lower temperatures and have lower reaction rates. Higher moisture feedstock is more easily converted through biochemical processes. Fermentation and anaerobic digestion are two common types of biochemical conversion processes. The main use of fermentation is in conversion of sugar and starch, found in crops like sugarcane, corn, and wheat, to ethanol. The fermentation of alcohol yields coproducts like distiller dried grains, which can be used as feed for livestock. Anaerobic digestion involves the bacterial breakdown of biodegradable organic material in the absence of oxygen over a temperature range from about 50° to 160° F. The main end product of these processes is called biogas, which is mainly methane (CH_4) , and carbon dioxide (CO_2) with some impurities such as hydrogen sulfide (H_2S) . Biogas can be used as fuel for engines, gas turbines, fuel cells, boilers, and industrial heaters, and as a feedstock for chemicals (with emissions and impacts commensurate with those from natural gas feedstock) (Demirbas, 2001; CIWMB, 2005). Conversion of cellulosic feedstock using acid or enzymatic hydrolysis is another type of biochemical process, which is expected to become commercially very important in the future.
- 5. Transesterification: This is the most common method of producing biodiesel today. Transesterification is a chemical process by which vegetable oils (like soy, canola, and palm) can be converted to methyl or ethyl esters of fatty acids also called biodiesel. Biodiesel is physically and chemically similar to petro-diesel and hence substitutable in diesel engines. Transesterification also results in the production of glycerin, a chemical compound with diverse commercial uses. This process is carried out at a temperature of 60° C to 80° C (Sheehan et al., 2000; Crabbe et al., 2001; Demirbas, 2001, 2003).

1.6 Emerging Technologies 25

1.6 Emerging Technologies

A variety of other technologies for conversion of biomass to fuels, or substitutes for fossil fuel-derived products like plastics, is being researched and developed.

- 1. Cellulosic ethanol: Cellulosic conversion implies the transformation of nongrain or nonfruit parts of phytomatter, which are mostly comprised of cellulose such as the stem, wood, grass, and leaves into ethanol. Switchgrass and Miscanthus are two perennial grasses that are undergoing trials as feedstock, while a variety of chemicals and biochemical processes including acid-based and enzymatic processes are being developed simultaneously for breaking down cellulose into ethanol. Similar to sugar refineries that utilize bagasse for cogeneration of electricity, cellulosic conversion can also be accompanied by the combustion of lignin to supply heat and steam for conversion. This will have the added benefit of offsetting electricity produced from fossil fuels (Lynd, 1996).
- 2. Fischer-Tropsch fuels: These are synthetic substitutes to gasoline and diesel, which are produced by a process in which carbon monoxide and hydrogen are catalytically transformed into liquid hydrocarbons (HC). Although coal and natural gas are considered as the main sources for carbon monoxide and hydrogen, gasification of biomass feedstock is considered a more environmentally benign conversion pathway for Fischer-Tropsch fuels (Hamelinck et al., 2004). Another line of research involves production of "biocrude" through high-temperature/pressure and chemical breakdown of biomass into liquids, using hydrothermal upgrading (HTU) or pyrolysis.
- 3. *Biobutanol*: Biobutanol is butanol (i.e., butyl alcohol), which is produced biologically from biomass through a process called acetone butanol ethanol (ABE) fermentation. As a result of low butanol yield, ABE fermentation was considered

uneconomical. However, it is expected to be viable at a gasoline price of \$3.00 per gallon or greater (Ramey, 2004).

- 4. Algae biodiesel: Another novel technology is biodiesel production from algae perhaps similar to how they are used to produce food supplements such as spirulina. However, recent surveys suggest that there are major difficulties in finding an algal strain with a high lipid content and fast growth rate that is not too difficult to harvest, and has a cost-effective cultivation system (Farrell and Gopal, 2008).
- 5. Biobased products and bioplastics: Agricultural feedstock can also be used to produce other industrial products called bioproducts and bioplastics, which are substitutes to chemicals, plastics, hydraulic fluids, and pharmaceuticals produced from fossil fuels. Agricultural feedstock which are considered as candidates for making such products, include a variety of crops, wood and plant oils, and agricultural and forestry residues. Bioproducts are considered to require less energy to produce than the fossil and inorganic products they replace (USDA, 2007).

1.7 Estimates of Future Potentials for Bioenergy

There are several studies that estimate the global potential of biofuels in absolute units of energy and as percentages of global energy that they can supply. Estimates of such potential can be classified into three categories, namely, biophysical, technical, and economic. Each category in the list comprises the ones following it, so that the three categories are of decreasing magnitude. Biofuels can in principle supply a large fraction of global energy need, and this is called the theoretical potential. The biophysical potential is determined primarily by natural conditions and describes the amount of biomatter that could be harvested at a given time. The technical potential depends on the available technologies and therefore evolves as technology progresses. Estimates of biophysical and technical potential vary depending on assumptions about land availability, yield levels in energy crop production, future availability of forest wood and of residues from agriculture and forestry,

1.7 Estimates of Future Potentials for Bioenergy 27

etc. The economic potential depends on at least two additional factors, namely, energy prices and policies toward renewable and clean technologies. However, oil prices are uncertain with respect to time, while policies vary both with time and also from region to region (Fischer and Schrattenholzer, 2001). As a result, economic potential is hard to predict. For example, Brazilian ethanol is economically viable when oil sells at \$35 per barrel whereas US ethanol is viable only at around \$50 per barrel (OECD, 2006; Ugarte, 2006). These estimates are, however, sensitive to the cost of feedstock. But for the concomitant increase in oil price, the recent increase in corn prices would render several ethanol plants unprofitable.

Most studies report an increase in the supply of bioenergy over time. A review of 17 earlier studies on this subject by Berndes et al. (2003) reveals that estimates for potential contribution of biomass in the year 2050 range from below 100 EJ/yr to over 400 EJ/yr (Berndes et al., 2003). In comparison to the current level of bioenergy of 45 EJ/yr, this represents a doubling to a tenfold increase. A study by the International Institute of Applied Systems Analysis and the World Energy Council predicts that bioenergy would supply 15% of global primary energy by 2050 (Fischer and Schrattenholzer, 2001). In comparison the share of bioenergy is about 10.6% (see Figure 1.2). A study by the Natural Resources Defense Council predicts that an aggressive plan to develop cellulosic biofuels between now and 2015, could help the United States produce the equivalent of nearly 7.9 million barrels of oil per day by 2050. This is equal to more than 50% of the current total oil use in the transportation sector in the US (Greene et al., 2004). A majority of the increase is accounted by cellulosic biomass like switchgrass.

However, it is also possible to envision scenarios that involve reduction in cropland while meeting the future food needs for a larger and wealthier population. One of the drawbacks of the above assessment is that it is static and does not take into account future changes in technologies and the demand for food. An analysis of the demand for cropland based on fundamental forces responsible for expansion of cropland by Waggoner and Ausubel (2001) suggests that sustained technological progress in crop production could meet the recommended nutritional requirements for a population of 9 billion and simultaneously reduce

cropland by 200 million hectares by the year 2050. It is even claimed that under the best-case scenario the land withdrawn from agriculture could be as high as 400 million hectares. At the same time, they warn that such improvements would come about only through sustained investments in productivity, experimentation, and deployment of better technologies (Waggoner, 1996; Waggoner and Ausubel, 2001). Extending on their analysis, we depict in Table 1.7 a hypothetical scenario in which the 200 million hectares of freed cropland is allocated equally to switchgrass and Miscanthus for producing lingo-cellulosic biomass. Assuming a conversion efficiency of 330 liters per ton, about 1,100 billion liters of gasoline-equivalent ethanol could be produced, which at today's consumption levels can offset about 64% of the global demand for gasoline.

1.8 Diverse Solutions for a Diverse World

Biofuels have played a vital role in meeting the energy needs of human beings. There is reason to believe that they will continue to do so in the future albeit in a different manner. Traditional forms of biomass energy are still prevalent among the rural poor in developing countries that use it for cooking and heating (Figure 1.9). Modern forms of bioenergy are expanding in the developed countries largely for use in automobiles and electricity generation. With economic growth, the share of traditional biomass will decline while that of modern energy sources will increase so that transportation and electricity production may be the dominant end uses one day as opposed to cooking and heating. However, given the slow pace of expansion of rural electrification and access to clean cooking fuels in developing countries, such a change may be a long while coming. Traditional or modern, biofuels can make a positive contribution to all three pillars of sustainable development — economic, social, and environmental. But the diversity in the social, economic, and environmental impacts proscribes a "one size fits all" approach. Most people contend that no single source of biomass or conversion technology or type of biofuel will suffice because of the disparate agro-climatic, ecological, technological, and socioeconomic and political economic factors that need consideration. Modern biofuels can in some cases be more

predictions.
based on
n future
grasses i
perennial
l from
ethano
for
Potential
Table 1.7

	Global							Supply as
	acreage in		Global	Conversion	Land	Max.	Gasoline	% of 2003
	2005	Average	production	efficiency	intensity	ethanol	equivalent	global
	(million	yield $(tons/$	(million	(liters)	(liters/	(billion	(billion	gasoline
Crop	$hectares)^*$	$hectare)^{**}$	tonnes)	$tonne)^{***}$	hectare)	liters)	liters)	use***
Switchgrass	100	10	1000	330	3300	330	220	20
Miscanthus	100	22	2200	330	7260	726	490	44
Total	200					1056	710	64
* A hypothetics	al scenario in w	hich about 100 m	illion hectares ea	ach are under swit	tchgrass and mis	scanthus.		
**Yield report	ed in Heaton et	; al. (2004).						
***Predicted c	onversion efficie	encies reported in	Khanna et al. (2	2007).				
****Global gas	oline use in 200	03 = 1,100 billion	liters (Kim and	Dale, 2004).				



Fig. 1.9 Poverty and biomass energy use (Karekezi and Kithyoma, 2006).

detrimental to the poor than traditional biofuels. The appropriation of food crops for ethanol production may have adverse impacts of food prices (FAPRI, 2005; Msangi et al., 2006; OECD, 2006; Runge and Senauer, 2007). The commercialization of cellulosic technologies may result in conversion of fodder resources for livestock or conversion of wood used by household into fuel for automobiles. The use of marginal lands for biofuel plantations can also worsen the energy poverty of the landless poor who may stand to lose access to fuelwood and fodder from such lands (Gundimeda, 2004; Karekezi and Kithyoma, 2006; Rajagopal, 2008). In the case of poor rural households in developing countries, the use of biomass for providing cleaner energy for cooking and providing electricity may be more beneficial overall rather than using them to produce transportation fuels (see Table 1.8).⁸ Along with

⁸ Table 1.8 shows a-back-of-the-envelope calculation, which estimates the amount of land required to produce enough oil for electricity generation using diesel generators for a single village of 100 households. The most striking conclusion that emerges from this table is that providing an average supply of 100 watts of electricity for 8 hours per day to the approximately 90 million rural households without electricity access today can be achieved using less land than it would require to meet 20% of India's demand for diesel.

1.8 Diverse Solutions for a Diverse World 31

Table 1.8 Estimate of land needed to electrify rural homes in India using biodiesel.

Number of households per village	100
Maximum demand per household (watts)	100
Number of hours of supply per day	8
Energy supplied per household per day (watt hour/day)	800
Total energy supplied to village per year (kilo watt hours /year)	30000
Specific fuel consumption of diesel generator (gms/kWhr)*	300
Oil required to generate electricity (tonnes/year)	9
Oil yield per hectare (kgs/hec.)	0.6
Total land required to produce the needed oil per village (hec.)	15
Number of village households in India	150,000,000
% of households with no electricity access	60%
Number of unelectrified households	90,000,000
Total land required to electricity rural homes (million hec)	13
Annual consumption of diesel in India (million tonnes)	42
Total land required to meet 20% of diesel demand (million hec)	14
	1 1 4 1

*Specific fuel consumption refers to the amount of oil (gms) needed to produce one kilo watt hour of electricity.

Source: Rajagopal (2008).

technological progress, innovative policies will be necessary to ensure a smooth transition to a future where modern biofuels can be a significant supplier of energy. This section has provided a historical and technological perspective. In the following sections, we will discuss the environmental, economic, and political aspects of biofuels.

And given the rate of growth in transportation fuel demand in India, an increasingly larger area will need to be converted to energy plantations to meet a given percentage of the demand using biofuels. A comparison of social impact of providing electricity access versus providing marginally better transportation fuel for cars would make this comparison even more useful.

- AB32. California Assembly Bill 32, http://www.arb.ca.gov/fuels/ lcfs/ab32.pdf.
- Abbott, P. C., C. Hurt, and W. E. Tyner (2008). 'Global food price increases: What's going on?' Report to the Farm Foundation.
- Adams, D. M., R. J. Alig, J. M. Callaway, B. A. McCarl, and S. M. Winnett (1996), The Forest and Agricultural Sector Optimization Model (FASOM) Model Structure and Policy Applications. Portland, Oregon: U. S. Dept. of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station.
- Andrews, S. S. (2006), 'Crop residue removal for biomass energy production: Effects on soils and recommendations'. White paper, USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service.
- Bailis, R., M. Ezzati, and D. M. Kammen (2005), 'Mortality and greenhouse gas impacts of biomass and petroleum energy futures in Africa'. *Science* **308**(5718), 98–103.
- Banse, M., A. Tabeau, G. Woltjer, and H. van Meijl (2007), 'Impact of EU biofuel policies on world agricultural and food markets'. Paper submitted for the GTAP Conference, Purdue University, Indiana.

- Barnes, D. F. and W. M. Floor (1996), 'Rural energy in developing countries: A challenge for economic development'. Annual Review of Energy and the Environment 21(1), 497–530.
- Berndes, G., M. Hoogwijk, and R. van den Broek (2003), 'The contribution of biomass in the future global energy supply: A review of 17 studies'. *Biomass and Bioenergy* **25**(1), 1–28.
- Besley, T. and A. Case (1993), 'Modeling technology adoption in developing countries'. The American Economic Review 83(2), 396–402.
- Bhattacharya, S. (1996), 'Applied general equilibrium models for energy studies: A survey'. *Energy Economics* 18(3), 145–164.
- Binswanger, H. and K. Deininger (1997), 'Explaining agricultural and agrarian policies in developing countries'. *Journal of Economic Lit*erature 35(4), 1958–2005.
- Bohlin, F. (1998), 'The Swedish carbon dioxide tax: Effects on biofuel use and carbon dioxide emissions'. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 15(4/5), 213–291.
- Bovenberg, A. L. and L. H. Goulder (2000). 'Neutralizing the adverse industry impacts of CO₂ abatement policies: What does it cost?' National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER) Working Paper Series, Massachusetts, MA: Cambridge.
- Brazilian Foundation for Sustainable Development (FBDS) (2007), 'Outcomes and recommendations of workshop on agro-energy expansion and its impact on Brazilian natural ecosystems'.
- Breuss, F. and K. Steininger (1998), 'Biomass energy use to reduce climate change — A general equilibrium analysis for Austria'. *Journal* of Policy Modeling 20(4), 513–535.
- California Integrated Waste Management Board (CIWMB) (2005), 'Conversion Technologies'. Report to California Legislature by California Integrated Waste Management Board.
- Campbell, C. and J. Laherrere (1998), 'The end of cheap oil'. Scientific American 278(3), 60–65.
- Casson, A. (2000), 'The hesitant boom: Indonesia's oil palm sub-sector in an era of economic crisis and political change'. Report prepared for the Program on the Underlying Causes of Deforestation, Centre for International Forestry Research (CIFOR), Bogor, Indonesia.

- Caswell, M. and D. Zilberman (1985), 'The choices of irrigation technologies in California'. American Journal of Agricultural Economics 67(2), 224–234.
- Chakravorty, U., B. Magne, and M. Moreaux (2006), 'A dynamic model of food and clean energy'. IDEI Working Papers 403, Institut d'Économie Industrielle (IDEI), Toulouse.
- Cooper, J., L. M. Lipper, and D. Zilberman (2005), Agricultural Biodiversity and Biotechnology in Economic Development. Norwell, MA: Springer.
- Crabbe, E., C. Nolasco-Hipolito, G. Kobayshi, K. Sonomoto, and A. Ishizaki (2001), 'Biodiesel production from crude palm oil and evaluation of butanol extraction and fuel properties'. *Process Biochemistry* 37(1), 65–71.
- Curran, L., S. N. Trigg, A. K. McDonald, D. Astiani, Y. M. Hardiono, P. Siregar, I. Caniago, and E. Kasischke (2004), 'Lowland forest loss in protected areas of Indonesian Borneo'. *Science* **313**(5660), 1000– 1003.
- de Gorter, H. and D. R. Just (2007a), 'The economics of a biofuel consumption mandate and excise-tax exemption: An empirical example of U.S. ethanol policy'. Working Paper, Department of Applied Economics and Management, Cornell University, WP 2007-20.
- de Gorter, H. and D. R. Just (2007b), 'The economics of U.S. ethanol import tariffs with a consumption mandate and tax credit'. Working Paper, Department of Applied Economics and Management, Cornell University, WP 2007-21.
- de Gorter, H. and D. R. Just (2007c), 'The welfare economics of an excise-tax exemption for biofuels'. Working Paper, Department of Applied Economics and Management, Cornell University, WP 2007-13.
- de la Torre Ugarte, D. G. (2006), 'Developing bioenergy: Economic and social issues'. In: *Bioenergy and Agriculture: Promises and Challenges.* International Food Policy Research Institute 2020 Focus No. 14.
- Delucchi, M. A. (2004), 'Conceptual and methodological issues in lifecycle analyses of transportation fuels'. Report prepared for the U. S. Environmental Protection Agency Office of Transportation and Air

Quality, Institute of Transportation Studies, University of California, Davis.

- Demirbas, A. (2001), 'Biomass resource facilities and biomass conversion processing for fuels and chemicals'. *Energy Conversion and Man*agement 42(11), 1357–1378.
- Demirbas, A. (2003), 'Biodiesel fuels from vegetable oils via catalytic and non-catalytic supercritical alcohol transesterifications and other methods: A survey'. *Energy Conversion and Management* 44(13), 2093–2109.
- Dixon, P. B., S. Osborne, and M. T. Rimmer (2007), 'The economywide effects in the united states of replacing crude petroleum with biomass'. Paper submitted for the GTAP Conference, Purdue University, Indiana.
- EIA (2007), 'United states energy information administration world outlook'. Report #:DOE/EIA-0484.
- EIA (2008), 'United states energy information administration'. International Energy Outlook, http://www.eia.doe.gov/oiaf/ieo/ highlights.html.
- Elobeid, A. and S. Tokgoz (2006), 'Removal of U. S. ethanol domestic and trade distortions: Impact on U. S. and Brazilian ethanol markets'. Working Paper 06-WP 427, Center for Agricultural and Rural Development, Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa.
- EPACT (2005). United States Energy Policy Act.
- Ericsson, K., S. Huttunen, L. J. Lars, J. Nilsson, and P. Svenningsson (2004), 'Bioenergy policy and market development in Finland and Sweden'. *Energy Policy* **32**(15), 1707–1721.
- European Union (EU) (2003), 'Directive 2003/30/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 8 May 2003 on the Promotion of the Use of Biofuels or Other Renewable Fuels for Transport'. Official Journal of the European Union L 123(42). http://europa.eu.int/eurlex/pri/en/oj/dat/2003/l_123/l_12320030517en00420046.pdf.
- Faaij, A. (2006), 'Modern biomass conversion technologies'. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 11(2), 335–367.
- Fargione, J., J. Hill, D. Tilman, S. Polasky, and P. Hawthorne (2008), 'Land clearing and the biofuel carbon debt'. *Science* **319**(5867), 1235–1236.

- Farrell, A. E. and A. R. Gopal (2008), 'Bioenergy research needs for heat, electricity, and liquid fuels'. *Materials Research Society Bulletin* 33.
- Farrell, A. E., R. J. Plevin, B. T. Turner, A. D. Jones, M. O'Hare, and D. M. Kammen (2006), 'Ethanol can contribute to energy and environmental goals'. *Science* **311**(5760), 506–508.
- Fearnside, P. (2002), 'Soybean cultivation as a threat to the environment in Brazil'. *Environmental Conservation* 28(01), 23–38.
- Feder, G., R. Just, and D. Zilberman (1985), 'Adoption of agricultural innovations in developing countries: A survey'. *Economic Develop*ment and Cultural Change **33**(2), 255–298.
- Ferris, J. and S. V. Joshi (2007), 'Agriculture as a source of fuel Prospects and impacts, 2007 to 2017'. Presented at the Biofuels, Food & Feed Tradeoffs Conference Organized by the Farm Foundation and USDA, St. Louis, Missouri.
- Fischer, C. and R. G. Newell (2008), 'Environmental and technology policies for climate mitigation'. *Journal of Environmental Economics* and Management 55, 142–162.
- Fischer, G. and L. Schrattenholzer (2001), 'Global bioenergy potentials through 2050'. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 20(3), 151–159.
- Food and Agricultural Policy Research Institute (FAPRI) (2005), 'Implications of increased ethanol production for US agriculture'. FAPRI-UMC Report #10-05.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) (2007), 'FAOSTAT, FAO statistical database'. http://faostat.fao.org.
- Fulton, L., T. Howes, and J. Hardy (2004), Biofuels for Transport: An International Perspective. Paris: International Energy Agency.
- Gardner, B. (2003), 'Fuel ethanol subsidies and farm price support: Boon or boondoggle?'. Working Paper, Department of Agricultural and Resource Economics, University of Maryland.
- Geller, H. (1985), 'Ethanol fuel from sugar cane in Brazil'. Annual Review of Energy 10(1), 135–164.
- Geller, H., R. Schaeffer, A. Szklo, and M. Tolmasequin (2004), 'Policies for advancing energy efficiency and renewable energy use in Brazil'. *Energy Policy* **32**(12), 1437–1450.

- Giampietro, M., S. Ulgiati, and D. Pimentel (1997), 'Feasibility of largescale biofuel production'. *BioScience* 47(9), 587–600.
- Gielecki, M., F. Mayes, and L. Prete (2001), Incentives, Mandates, and Government Programs for Promoting Renewable Energy. Washington, DC: Energy Information Administration, U.S. Department of Energy.
- Gnansounou, E., A. Dauriat, and C. Wyman (2005), 'Refining sweet sorghum to ethanol and sugar: Economic trade-offs in the context of North China'. *Bioresource Technology* **96**(9), 985–1002.
- Gohin, A. and G. Moschini (2007), 'Impacts of the European biofuel policy on the farm sector: A general equilibrium assessment'. Draft prepared for Biofuels, Food & Feed Tradeoffs Conference organized by Farm Foundation and the USDA, St. Louis, Missouri.
- GoI (2003), Government of India Planning Commission Report of the Committee on Development of Biofuel.
- Graham, R. L., E. Lichtenberg, V. O. Roningen, H. Shapouri, and M. E. Walsh (1995), 'The economics of biomass production in the United States'. Proceedings of the 2nd Biomass Conference of the Americas: Energy, Environment, Agriculture, and Industry.
- Greene, N., F. E. Celik, B. Dale, M. Jackson, K. Jayawardhana, H. Jin, E. Larson, M. Laser, K. Lynd, D. MacKenzie, M. Jason, J. McBride, S. McLaughlin, and D. Saccardi (2004), 'Growing energy: How biofuels can help end america's oil dependence'. National Resource Defense Council (NRDC) Report.
- Gundimeda, H. (2004), 'How 'Sustainable' is the 'Sustainable Development Objective' of CDM in developing countries like India?' Forest Policy and Economics 6(3/4), 329–343.
- Hallam, A., I. C. Anderson, and D. R. Buxton (2001), 'Comparative economic analysis of perennial, annual, and intercrops for biomass production'. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 21, 407–424.
- Hamelinck, C. N., P. C. A. P. C. Faaija, H. den Uilb, and H. Boerrigteret (2004), 'Production of FT transportation fuels from biomass: Technical options, process analysis and optimisation, and development potential'. *Energy* 29(11), 1743–1771.

- Hazell, P. and R. K. Pachauri (eds.) (2006), Bioenergy and Agriculture: Promises and Challenges. International Food Policy Research Institute 2020 Focus No. 14.
- International Energy Agency (IEA) (2006), 'IEA global renewable fact sheet'.
- Jacobson, M. Z. (2007), 'Effects of ethanol (E85) versus gasoline vehicles on cancer and mortality in the United States'. *Environmental Science and Technology* 41(11), 4150–4157.
- Jaffe, A. B., R. G. Newell, and R. N. Stavins (1999), 'Energy-efficient technologies and climate change policies: Issues and evidence'. Climate Issue Brief 19, report prepared for the Resources for the Future.
- Janulis, P. (2004), 'Reduction of energy consumption in biodiesel fuel life cycle'. *Renewable Energy* 29(6), 861–871.
- Just, R. E. and D. Zilberman (1983), 'Stochastic structure, farm size and technology adoption in developing agriculture'. Oxford Economic Papers 35(2), 307.
- Kadam, K. (2000), 'Environmental life cycle implications of using bagasse-derived ethanol as a gasoline oxygenate in Mumbai (Bombay)'. NREL/TP-580-28705, National Renewable Energy Lab., Golden, Colorado.
- Kammen, D., K. Kapadia, and M. Fripp (2004), 'Putting renewables to work: How many jobs can the clean energy industry generate'. Report of the Renewable and Appropriate Energy Laboratory, Energy and Resources Group/Goldman School of Public Policy at University of California, Berkeley.
- Kammen, D. M. (2006), 'Bioenergy in developing countries: Experiences and prospects'. *Bioenergy and Agriculture: Promises and Challenges*. International Food Policy Research Institute 2020 Focus No. 14.
- Karekezi, S. and W. Kithyoma (2006), 'Bioenergy and the poor'. Bioenergy and Agriculture: Promises and Challenges. International Food Policy Research Institute 2020 Focus No. 14.
- Keeney, R. and T. W. Hertel (2008), 'The indirect land use impacts of U.S. biofuel policies: The importance of acreage, yield, and bilateral trade responses'. GTAP Working Paper No. 52, Department of Agricultural Economics, Purdue University.

- Khanna, M., B. Dhungana, and J. Clifton-Brown (2007), 'Costs of perennial grasses for bio-energy in illinois'. Working Paper, Department of Agricultural and Consumer Economics University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign.
- Khanna, M. and D. Zilberman (1997), 'Incentives, precision technology and environmental protection'. *Ecological Economics* **23**(1), 25–43.
- Kim, S. and B. Dale (2004), 'Global potential bioethanol production from wasted crops and crop residues'. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 26(4), 361–375.
- Kim, S. and B. Dale (2005), 'Life cycle assessment of various cropping systems utilized for producing biofuels: Bioethanol and biodiesel'. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 29(6), 426–439.
- Klette, T., J. Moen, and Z. Griliches (2000), 'Do subsidies to commercial R&D reduce market failures? Microeconometric evaluation studies'. *Research Policy* 29(4–5), 471–495.
- Kojima, M., D. Mitchell, and W. Ward (2007), 'Considering trade policies for liquid biofuels'. Energy Sector Management Assistance Program (ESPM), World Bank.
- Kojima, M. J. and T. Johnson (2005), Potential for Biofuels for Transport in Developing Countries. Washington, DC: Energy Sector Management Assistance Programme World Bank.
- Koplow, D. (2006), 'Biofuels–At what cost? Government support for ethanol and biodiesel in the United States'. Report prepared for the Global Subsidies Initiative, International Institution for Sustainable Development.
- Lal, R. (2004), 'Carbon emission from farm operations'. Environment International 30(7), 981–990.
- Leiby, P. and J. Rubin (2001), 'Effectiveness and efficiency of policies to promote alternative fuel vehicles'. *Transportation Research Record* 1750, 84–91.
- Lichtenberg, E. and D. Zilberman (1986), 'The welfare economics of price supports in U.S. agriculture'. The American Economic Review 76(5), 1135–1141.
- Lynd, L. (1996), 'Overview and evaluation of fuel ethanol from cellulosic biomass: Technology, economics, the environment, and policy'. Annual Review of Energy and the Environment 21(1), 403–465.

- Macedo, I. C., M. R. L. V. Leal, and J. E. A. R. da Silva (2004), 'Assessment of greenhouse gas emissions in the production and use of fuel ethanol in Brazil'. Report to the Government of the State of São Paulo.
- MacKenzie, D., L. Bedsworth, and D. Friedman (2005), Fuel Economy Fraud: Closing the Loopholes that Increase U.S. Oil Dependence. Cambridge, MA: Union of Concerned Scientists.
- Mann, M. K. and P. L. Spath (1997), 'Life cycle assessment of a biomass gasification combined-cycle power system'. Technical Report, National Renewable Energy Lab., Golden, Colorado.
- Manne, A. and R. Richels (2004), 'The impact of learning-by-doing on the timing and costs of CO_2 abatement'. *Energy Economics* **26**(4), 603–619.
- Manne, A., R. Richels, and J. Weyant (1979), 'Energy policy modeling: A survey'. *Operations Research* **27**(1), 1–36.
- Martinot, E. (2005), *Renewables 2005: Global Status Report*. Worldwatch Institute.
- Mattsson, B., C. Cederberg, and L. Blix (2000), 'Agricultural land use in life cycle assessment (LCA): Case studies of three vegetable oil crops'. Journal of Cleaner Production 8(4), 283–292.
- McDonald, S., S. Robinson, and K. Thierfelder (2006), 'Impact of switching production to bioenergy crops: The switchgrass example'. *Energy Economics* 28(2), 243–265.
- Moreira, J. (2007), 'Water use and impacts due ethanol production in Brazil'. International Conference on Linkages in Energy and Water Use in Agriculture in Developing Countries. Organized by IWMI and FAO, ICRISAT, India.
- Mortimer, P. C., M. A. Elsayed, and R. E. Horne (2003), 'Evaluation of the comparative energy, global warming and socio-economic costs and benefits of Biodiesel'. Report to the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs Contract Reference No. CSA 5982/NF0422, Report No. 20/1.
- Mrini, M., F. Senhaji, and D. Pimentel (2001), 'Energy analysis of sugarcane production in Morocco'. *Environment, Development and* Sustainability 3(2), 109–126.

- Msangi, S., T. Sulser, M. Rosegrant, R. Valmonte-Santos, and C. Ringler (2006), *Global Scenarios for Biofuels: Impacts and Implications.* International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI).
- Nguyen, T., S. H. Gheewala, and S. Garivait (2007), 'Full chain energy analysis of fuel ethanol from cassava in Thailand'. *Environmental Science and Technology* **41**(11), 4135–4142.
- Nordhaus, W. (1991), 'To slow or not to slow: The economics of the greenhouse effect'. *The Economic Journal* **101**(407), 920–937.
- Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) (2006), 'Agricultural market impacts of future growth in the production of biofuels'. *OECD Papers* **6**(1), 1–57.
- Pimentel, D. and T. Patzek (2005), 'Ethanol production using corn, switchgrass, and wood; biodiesel production using soybean and sunflower'. Natural Resources Research 14(1), 65–76.
- Pletcher, J. (1991), 'Regulation with growth: The political economy of palm oil in Malaysia'. World Development 19(6), 623–636.
- Popp, D. (2006), 'R&D subsidies and climate policy: Is there a free lunch?'. *Climatic Change* 77(3), 311–341.
- Prakash, R., A. Henham, and I. K. Bhat (2005), 'Gross carbon emissions from alternative transport fuels in India'. *Energy* 10.
- Prayas (Initiatives in Health, Energy, Learning and Parenthood) (2007), 'Jatropha in horticulture program of employment guarantee scheme. An assessment from small farmer's perspective'. Report by Resources and Livelihoods Group, Prayas, Pune, India.
- Rajagopal, D. (2008), 'Implications of India's biofuel policies for food, water and the poor'. Water Policy 10(Supplement), 95–106.
- Rajagopal, D., S. E. Sexton, D. Roland-Holst, and D. Zilberman (2007), 'Challenge of biofuel: Filling the tank without emptying the stomach?'. *Environmental Research Letters* 2(October-December).
- Rajagopal, D. and D. Zilberman (2008), 'The use of environmental life cycle analysis for evaluating biofuels'. Agricultural and Resource Economics Update 11(3), Jan/Feb.
- Ramey, D. S.-T. Y. (2004), 'Production of butyric acid and butanol from biomass'. Final Report to the US Department of Energy, Contract No.: DE-F-G02-00ER86106.

- Ravindranath, N. H. and D. O. Hall (1995), Biomass, Energy, and Environment: A Developing Country Perspective from India. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Reilly, J. and S. Paltsev (2007), 'Biomass energy and competition for land'. Report of MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change, No. 145.
- Roos, A., R. L. Graham, B. Hektor, and C. Rakos (1999), 'Critical factors to bioenergy implementation'. *Biomass and Bioenergy* **17**(2), 113–126.
- Runge, C. and B. Senauer (2007), 'How biofuels could starve the poor'. Foreign Affairs 86(3), 41–53.
- Sadoulet, E. and A. de Janvry (1995), Quantitative Development Policy Analysis. Baltimore, Maryland: The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Schneider, U. and B. McCarl (2003), 'Economic potential of biomass based fuels for greenhouse gas emission mitigation'. *Environmental* and Resource Economics 24(4), 291–312.
- Searchinger, T., R. Heimlich, R. A. Houghton, F. Dong, A. Elobeid, J. Fabiosa, S. Tokgov, D. Hayes, and T. H. Yu (2008), 'Use of US croplands for biofuels increases greenhouse gases through emissions from land use change'. *Science* **319**(5867), 1238–1239.
- Sexton, S. E. and D. Zilberman (2008), 'Biofuel impacts on climate change, the environment and food'. *Report to the Renewable Fuels Agency*.
- Sheehan, J., V. Camobreco, J. Duffield, M. Graboski, and H. Shapouri (2000), 'An overview of biodiesel and petroleum diesel life cycles'. Report No. NREL/TP-580-24772, National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, Colorado.
- Smith, K. and S. Mehta (2003), 'The burden of disease from indoor air pollution in developing countries: Comparison of estimates'. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health* 206(4), 279–289.
- Smith, K. R. (1987), Biofuels, Air Pollution, and Health: A Global Review. New York: Plenum.
- Steininger, K. and H. Voraberger (2003), 'Exploiting the medium term biomass energy potentials in Austria'. *Environmental and Resource Economics* 24(4), 359–377.

- Swinnen, J. and F. van der Zee (1993), 'The political economy of agricultural policies: A survey'. European Review of Agricultural Economics 20(3), 261–290.
- Tiffany, D. G. and V. R. Eidman (2003), 'Factors associated with success of fuel ethanol producers'. Department of Applied Economics, College of Agricultural, Food, and Environmental Sciences, University of Minnesota, Staff Paper Series P03-07.
- Tilman, D., J. Hill, and C. Lehman (2006), 'Carbon-negative biofuels from low-input high-diversity grassland biomass'. *Science* **314**(5805), 1598–1600.
- Treguer, D. and J. Sourie (2006), 'The impact of biofuel production on farm jobs and income: The french case'. Presented at the 96th EAAE seminar in Tanikon, Switzerland.
- Turner, B. T., R. J. Plevin, M. O'Hare, and A. E. Farrell (2007), 'Creating markets for green biofuels: Measuring and improving environmental performance'. Transportation Sustainability Research Center, Paper UCB-ITS-TSRC-RR-2007-1.
- Tyner, W. E. and F. Taheripour (2007a), 'Ethanol subsidies, who gets the benefits?'. Paper presented at Biofuels, Food, and Feed Tradeoffs Conference Organized by the Farm Foundation and USDA, St. Louis, Missouri.
- Tyner, W. E. and F. Taheripour (2007b), 'Future biofuels policy alternatives'. Paper presented at Biofuels, Food, and Feed Tradeoffs Conference Organized by the Farm Foundation and USDA, St. Louis, Missouri.
- Ulgiati, S. (2001), 'A comprehensive energy and economic assessment of biofuels: When 'Green' is not enough'. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 20(1), 71–106.
- United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) (2007), 'USDA Farm Bill 2007' http://www.usda.gov/documents/Farmbill07energy.pdf.
- van Damm, J., M. Junginger, A. Faaij, I. Jürgens, G. Best, and U. Fritsche (2007), 'Overview of recent developments in sustainable biomass certification'. Working Paper for IEA Bioenergy Task 40.
- Waggoner, P. and J. Ausubel (2001), 'How much will feeding more and wealthier people encroach on forests?'. *Population and Development Review* 27(2), 239–257.

- Waggoner, P. E. (1996), 'How much land can ten billion people spare for nature?'. *Daedalus* **125**(3).
- Walsh, M., D. G. de la Torre Ugarte, H. Shapouri, and S. P. Slinsky (2003), 'Bioenergy crop production in the United States: potential quantities, land use changes, and economic impacts on the agricultural sector'. *Environmental and Resource Economics* 24(4), 313–333.
- Watson, R. T., M. C. Zinyowera, and R. H. Moss (1996), 'Technologies, policies and measures for mitigating climate change'. Technical Paper Series No. 1, Geneva.
- Weitzman, M. (1974), 'Prices vs. quantities'. The Review of Economic Studies 41(4), 477–491.
- Wyman, C. (1999), 'Biomass ethanol: Technical progress, opportunities, and commercial challenges'. Annual Review of Energy and the Environment 24(1), 189–226.